2010-IA-01963-SCT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUBLE QUICK, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-IA-01963-SCT

DOROTHY MOORE, AS ADMINISTRATOR AND ON BEHALF OF ALL OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF MARIO MOORE, DECEASED

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

HONORABLE ALBERT B. SMITH, III, CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Of Counsel to Appellant:

Fax: (662) 455-7884

Marc A. Biggers, Esq. (MSB #Lonnie D. Bailey, Esq. (MSB #LUPSHAW, WILLIAMS, BIGGERS & BECKHAM, LLP 309 Fulton Street
Post Office Drawer 8230
Greenwood, Mississippi 38935-8230
Telephone: (662) 455-1613

I. INTRODUCTION

This premises liability action arises from a shooting incident which occurred at Double Quick's convenience store in Shelby, Mississippi. Mario Moore ("Moore") was shot and killed by George Ford ("Ford") after Moore interjected himself into an argument between Ford and another man, Cassius Gallion ("Gallion"), in the parking lot of the convenience store. Dorothy Moore ("Plaintiff"), Moore's mother and administratrix of his estate brought this wrongful death action in the Circuit Court of Bolivar County. Eventually, Double Quick moved for summary judgment on the basis that the undisputed facts show that Moore was, at best, a licensee, more probably a trespasser, under premises liability law and that there was no evidence that Double Quick breached its duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring him. Double Quick also demonstrated in its motion for summary judgment that the undisputed facts fail to show that the shooting incident was reasonably foreseeable to Double Quick. In addition, Double Quick established that the undisputed facts show that Moore interjected himself into the altercation between Ford and Gallion thereby precluding liability of Double Quick for the criminal acts of a third party pursuant to this Court's opinion in *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So.2d 459 (Miss. 2003).

Despite pleading her case as a premises liability case, plaintiff argued at the summary

judgment hearing that premises liability law does not apply and that the case is "more akin to a basic negligence case than a premises liability case." R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26 (page 2) ¹. Even though the trial court concluded as a matter of law that plaintiff cannot establish the foreseeability factors which must be shown by a claimant seeking to recover from a premises owner for failing to protect the claimant from the intentional acts of another², the trial court agreed "with the Plaintiff that this case is more similar to a basic negligence action against an employee of Double Quick and that the premises liability foreseeability factors are not applicable." R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26 (page 2). The trial court's conclusions are contrary to a long line of appellate decisions which compel contrary conclusions.

The trial court erred when it failed to apply well-settled premises liability law in this premises liability case to Double Quick's motion for summary judgment. It should have applied Mississippi premises liability law to the undisputed facts in the record and granted summary judgment to Double Quick. This Court should reverse the Order of the trial court insofar as it denied summary judgment to Double Quick and render judgment here for Double Quick.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant summary judgment to Double Quick when the undisputed facts showed that Double Quick was entitled to judgment as a matter of well-settled principles of premises liability law.

In this brief, references to the record are as follows: "R. ____" refers to the Clerk's papers; "Tr. ____" refers to the court reporter's transcript of the hearing on Double Quick's motion for summary judgment; "R.E. ___" refers to appellant's record excerpts; and "Ex. ___" refers to exhibits offered on the motion for summary judgment.

Double Quick would, based on the trial court's own legal conclusions, be entitled to summary judgment under a proper application of premises liability law.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

The case below, filed by Dorothy Moore on behalf of the estate and wrongful death beneficiaries of Mario Moore, deceased, involved allegations of negligence against Double Quick, Inc., the owner and operator of a convenience store in Shelby, arising from the fatal shooting of Moore by Ford in the parking lot of the Double Quick store. R. 3-6. After discovery and motion practice, Double Quick filed its motion for summary judgment asserting that under the undisputed facts: (a) Moore was, at best, a licensee and there was no evidence of wanton or wilful conduct by Double Quick that caused Moore's injury and death; (b) the shooting of Moore by Ford was not reasonably foreseeable by Double Quick; and (c) as a matter of law, under *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So.2d 459 (Miss. 2003), Double Quick could not be held liable for the criminal acts of a third party because Moore interjected himself into an altercation between Ford and another. R. 38-805.

On consideration of Double Quick's motion for summary judgment, the trial court agreed "with the Plaintiff that this case is more similar to a basic negligence action against an employee of Double Quick and that the premises liability foreseeability factors are not applicable." R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26 (page 2). The trial court denied Double Quick's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* The issue before this Court on appeal is whether the trial court erroneously denied Double Quick's motion for summary judgment because it refused to apply premises liability law to an obvious premises liability case.

It is ironic that the trial court concluded as a matter of law that plaintiff could not establish the foreseeability factors which must be shown by a claimant seeking to recover from a premises owner for failing to protect the claimant from the intentional acts of another, and yet failed to grant Double Quick's summary judgment motion. R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26 (page 2). ("This Court agrees with the Defendant that neither of the 2 prongs of the *Corley* test is met in this case."). Double Quick is, based on the trial court's own legal conclusions, entitled to summary judgment under a proper application of premises liability law.

B. The Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

Dorothy Moore, etc. v. Double Quick, Inc., Civil Action No. 2008-0072, was filed in the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District, on September 5, 2008. R. 3-6. Ms. Moore charged that Double Quick, Inc. was guilty of neglecting to protect Moore. purportedly a business invitee, from injury and death as a result of his being shot by Ford while on the premises of a Double Quick convenience store in Shelby. Id. On October 2, 2008, Double Ouick, Inc., answered the complaint. R. 7-10. Double Quick, Inc., denied the essential allegations of the complaint, including liability to plaintiff. Id. After extensive discovery by both parties, on October 7, 2010, Double Quick, Inc., filed its motion for summary judgment and supporting memorandum brief. R. 34-805. Plaintiff filed a response to Double Quick's motion for summary judgment and a cross-motion for partial summary judgment on October 19, 2010. R. 806-1467. On October 25, 2010 the trial court heard oral argument on the motions. Tr. 1-71. On November 23, 2010, the trial court entered its Order denying both motions for summary judgment, finding as a matter of law that principles of premises liability were not applicable to this case. R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26. It is from that portion of the Order denying it a summary judgment that the defendant Double Ouick, Inc. appeals.4

C. Statement of Relevant Facts.

5

The facts concerning the shooting incident are largely undisputed⁵. On May 17, 2008

This Court granted Double Quick's Petition for Permission to Appeal an Interlocutory Order on December 8, 2010. R. 1530-31.

The record contains digital video from both inside and outside the store which captured the events. The video images on DVD are attached as Exhibit 1 to the Affidavit of Scott Shaffer which was, in turn, attached as Exhibit 5 to Double Quick's motion for summary judgment. The DVD is contained in a separate envelope provided with the record by the Bolivar County Circuit Clerk. In addition, still photos printed from (continued...)

Wytisha Jackson ("Jackson") was an assistant store manager of a Double Quick convenience store in Shelby, Mississippi. R. 840. Shortly after 7:30 p.m. 6, George Ford ("Ford") and his young son entered the Double Quick to make a purchase. R. 822. Cassius Gallion (Gallion") came in the store after them whereupon Ford and Gallion exchanged words. R. 823-24, 850-51. James Townsend intervened and Gallion exited the store. R. 722. Ford left the store to pump gas in his car, accompanied by Ford's son and Jackson. Jackson left the store to assist putting Ford's child in the car. R. 824. Outside at the gas pumps, Ford and Gallion again exchanged words and again James Townsend intervened and separated them. R. 874. Then, Moore, plaintiff's decedent 7, approached Ford's car and threw a punch at Ford that struck Jackson. R. 826, 845. Jackson returned to the store and immediately called the police. R. 826, 845. Ford then retrieved a pistol from the trunk of his car and shot Moore. R. 855-56.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Double Quick brought a motion for summary judgment demonstrating that the undisputed facts establish that Moore was at best a licensee on Double Quick's premises and that there was no evidence in the record that Double Quick acted willfully or wantonly to injure Moore. Double Quick also demonstrated that, even if Moore was an invitee, as a matter of law, plaintiff could not establish that the shooting incident was reasonably foreseeable as required by this Court's opinion in *Corley*

⁵(...continued) the video images are attached as Exhibits 2 through 69 of Mr. Shaffer's affidavit. R. 726-793. Double Quick strongly urges the Court to review the video images in conjunction with the affidavit of Mr. Shaffer to obtain a clear picture of the undisputed events on the evening of May 17, 2008.

The Affidavit of Scott Shaffer explains that the time stamp on the digital video is off by one hour because the clock on the recording system had not been changed to account for Daylight Savings Time. R. 724.

Moore had not been in the store prior to the incident in question.

v. Evans, 835 So.2d 30, 38-39 (Miss. 2000) and other opinions. Finally, Double Quick also established that the undisputed facts showed that Moore interjected himself into an altercation between Ford and Gallion on Double Quick's premises, so that this case is controlled by this Court's opinion in *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So.2d 459 (Miss. 2003) precluding liability of Double Quick, as a matter of law, for the criminal acts of a third party.

Rather than granting Double Quick the summary judgment it was entitled to under well-settled principles of Mississippi premises liability law, the trial court accepted plaintiff's argument at the summary judgment hearing that "this case is more akin to a basic negligence case than a premises liability case" and that premises liability law does not apply. R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26. In essence, the trial court embraced plaintiff's attempted end-run around Mississippi's well-settled premises liability law regarding determination of duty owed by a business owner and denied Double Quick's summary judgment motion. This was error. This Court and the Court of Appeals have repeatedly rejected plaintiffs' attempts to apply "basic" or "simple" negligence rules in premises liability cases rather than premises liability rules that have been "developed over many years and are grounded in reality'." *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So.2d 459, 465 (Miss. 2003), quoting *Pinnell v. Bates*, 838 So.2d 198, 199 (Miss. 2002).

The trial court should have decided Double Quick's motion under the premises liability rules this Court has developed over decades of jurisprudence. If it had done so, it would have had no choice but to find that Double Quick was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. This Court should reverse the Order denying summary judgment to Double Quick and render judgment here in Double Quick's favor.

In its Order denying summary judgment, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that the plaintiff had failed to establish either of the *Corley* tests to prove foreseeability.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review applied by Mississippi appellate courts when reviewing the grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment by a trial court is *de novo*.

This Court conducts de novo review of orders granting or deny summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it - admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. If, in this view, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his favor.

Titus v. Williams, 844 So.2d 459, 464 (Miss. 2003). When this Court conducts a *de novo* review of the record in this case the conclusion will be inescapable that when the appropriate premises liability law is applied to the undisputed facts in the record, Double Quick, Inc., is entitled to summary judgment.

B. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Apply Well-Settled Principles of Premises Liability Law.

At plaintiff's urging, the trial court below abandoned "the careful work of generations for an amorphus 'reasonable care under the circumstances' standard..." of basic negligence. *Doe v. Jameson Inn, Inc.*, _____ So.3d _____, 2011 WL 103543, ¶ 22, (Miss., decided January 13, 2011) quoting *Little v. Bell*, 719 So.2d 757, 763 (Miss. 1998); R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26. This was error.

This Court has not waivered in its adherence to "[t]he tripartite system of invitee, licensee and trespasser [which] evolved to delineate very fine distinctions as to when a duty was owed to an entrant on land, in part to protect the landowner from the unfettered discretion of juries." (explanatory material added.) Little v. Bell, 719 So.2d 757, 763-64 (Miss. 1998). See also, Jameson Inn, 2011 WL 103543 at ¶ 22; Titus, 844 So.2d at 465. Over the decades the Court has created a

single exception to the invitee/licensee/trespasser trichotomy and the premises owner's duties attached to each. In *Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co., Inc.*, 358 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 1978) the Court engrafted a "carefully limited" exception to the duty owed to a licensee where the premises owner is (a) aware of the presence of the licensee on the premises; (b) the premises owner is engaged in active negligence in the operation or control of the business; (c) the active negligence of the landowner must subject the plaintiff to unusual danger or increase the hazard to him; and (d) the active negligence must be the proximate cause of plaintiff's injury. *Little v. Bell*, 719 So.2d at 761-62, quoting *Hughes v. Star Homes, Inc.*, 379 So.2d 301, 304 (Miss. 1980).

The trial court did not cite *Hoffman* in its Order or discuss the factors underpinning the Court's decision in *Hoffman*. Initially, plaintiff attempted to argue that one of the *Hoffman* factors, the active negligence factor, is controlling without showing satisfaction of the remaining elements for invocation of the exception. R. 1534-68. At the hearing, however, the trial court repeatedly expressed its view that this was an ordinary negligence case. Tr. 36, 38, 49-51 and 56. When the light bulb went on, plaintiff's counsel embraced the trial court's view. Tr. 59 ("Negligent. Just -- just good-old negligence case here.").

Both the trial court and plaintiff's counsel are wrong. This Court recently considered the issue of applying "basic" or "simple" negligence rules to premises liability cases in *Doe v. Jameson Inn, Inc.*, _____ So. 3d _____, 2011 WL 103543 (Miss., decided Jan. 13, 2011). *Doe* involved

The Court (and Court of Appeals) have consistently construed the *Hoffman* exception to only be applicable when the landowner has been involved in some active operation on the premises involving the operation of a dangerous device. *Presswood v. Cook*, 658 So.2d 859, 862 (Miss. 1995) ("[A]ction or inaction by the possessor (of the land) with knowledge of an individual's presence' in an operation of some device is a question of negligence), quoting *Hoffman*; *Keith v. Peterson*, 922 So.2d 4, 10 (Miss. App. 2005) ("Furthermore, Brandon was not operating a device. Instead he was playing with his friends. Thus, we find that the case before this Court is a classic premises liability case.") Of course, *Hoffman* involved the operation of a dangerous cottonseed auger which injured a minor.

allegations of the rape of a thirteen year old girl in a hotel room where she went with others to smoke marijuana. Plaintiffs argued on appeal that the trial court committed error when it applied premises liability law rather than "simple negligence". 2011 WL 103543, ¶ 9. In rejecting that argument the Court noted

Since premises liability is a theory of negligence that establishes the duty owed to someone injured on a landowner's premises as a result of 'conditions or activities' on the land, we find that the trial court properly treated the Does' claim as one of pure premises liability. As such, we cannot hold the trial court in error on this point.

2011 WL 103543, ¶ 11, quoting *Black's Law Dictionary* 961 (7th ed. 2000). The Court also rejected plaintiff's request to "abandon the common-law distinctions of trespasser, licensee, and invitee, and opt for a reasonable care standard." *Id.* at ¶¶ 21-22.

Even if the trial court was attempting to apply the *Hoffman* exception, the record before the Court does not support denial of Double Quick's motion for summary judgment. First, there is no evidence in the record that Double Quick was aware of Moore's presence on Double Quick's premises before Moore interjected himself into the altercation between Ford and Cassion. Indeed, the evidence is undisputed that Moore "appeared out of nowhere" and involved himself in the argument. R. 845.

Next, there is no evidence in the record that Double Quick was actively negligent as contemplated by *Hoffman*. In *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So.2d 459, 466-67 (Miss. 2003) this Court discussed the meaning of active and passive negligence in some detail. The Court explained that when plaintiff complains that the defendant failed to do something to protect plaintiff, any negligence by the defendant is passive and does not bring the case within the *Hoffman* exception. As in *Titus*, all of the actions characterized as negligence by plaintiff in the instant case would be passive negligence (if negligent at all). In the trial court below, plaintiff claimed that Double Quick

was negligent because its employees failed to call the police quickly enough -- passive negligence as defined in *Titus*. Plaintiff also complained that Double Quick's employees failed to lock Ford in the store after the initial argument between Ford and Gallion -- again, passive negligence. Moreover, plaintiff complained that Double Quick employees failed to utilize a "panic" button that had been installed at the store -- failure to act, i.e. passive negligence. Plaintiff further complained that Double Quick failed to have a security guard present at the time of the incident -- passive negligence. In addition, plaintiff complained that Double Quick failed to provide sufficient training to its employees to take the actions described above -- passive negligence.¹⁰

Finally, plaintiff argued below that Double Quick's employee Jackson was actively negligent because she accompanied Ford to his car to assist getting his young son in the car while Ford pumped the gas he had just purchased. Plaintiff failed to demonstrate below (a) how this conduct by Jackson was negligence (i.e. what duty she breached); (b) if negligent, how this conduct was active negligence¹¹; and (c) if active negligence, how this conduct was the proximate cause of Moore's death.¹²

¹⁰

These descriptions of plaintiff's allegations of negligence are taken from Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Issue of Active Negligence of Defendant Double Quick, Inc., at ppg. 14-15, R. 1547-48 and from the arguments of plaintiff's counsel at the hearing on Double Quick's Motion for Summary Judgment. Tr. 23-35.

¹¹

It logically seems that Jackson's conduct in accompanying Ford to his vehicle could, at best, be seen as an extension of the allegation that Double Quick's employees were negligent for failing to detain Ford inside the store until Cassion had left the premises or the police had responded. If negligence, this would be characterized as passive negligence under the *Titus* definition.

¹²

In Davis v. Christian Brotherhood Homes of Jackson, Mississippi, Inc., 957 So.2d 390, 404 (Miss. App. 2007), the Court of Appeals explained that proximate cause is comprised of two distinct concepts: "(1) cause in fact; and (2) foreseeability." The Court described cause in fact as an "act or omission [which] was a substantial factor in bringing about the injury, and without it the harm would not have occurred." Id. (continued...)

Assuming arguendo that Jackson's conduct could somehow be found to constitute negligence, as a matter of law the undisputed facts surrounding Jackson's conduct demonstrate that her conduct does not invoke the *Hoffman* exception. In *Titus*, the Court noted that "[u]nder the *Hoffman* test, the negligence of the defendant must have been the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury." 844 So.2d at 466. Quoting *Newell v. Southern Jitney Jungle Co.*, 830 So.2d 621, 623 (Miss. 2002) the *Titus* court pointed out that

'Negligence which merely furnishes the condition or occasion upon which injuries are received, but does not put in motion the agency by or through which the injuries are inflicted, is not the proximate cause thereof.'

Titus, 830 So.2d at 466.

13

If Jackson was negligent, the most that can be said is that her negligence "merely furnishe[d] the condition or occasion" which allowed Moore to be shot by Ford. *Id.* The agency through which Moore's injury was inflicted was Ford's conduct in pulling a gun and shooting Moore. There is no evidence that Jackson furnished the gun to Ford. There is no evidence that Jackson encouraged Ford to pull his gun and shoot Moore. There is no evidence that Jackson even knew that Ford had a gun. Thus, there is no evidence to support a finding that Jackson's negligence (if any) put in motion the agency which inflicted fatal wounds in Moore. ¹³ Moreover, there is no evidence that Jackson could have foreseen that Moore would interject himself into the argument between Ford and Gallion which

^{12(...}continued)
(explanatory material added.) The record is devoid of any evidence, as contrasted with mere speculation, that Moore would not have been shot if Jackson had remained in the store. Accordingly, plaintiff cannot establish that Jackson's purported negligence was the "cause in fact" of Moore's injury and death.

Even plaintiff's expert, John Harris, agreed that if Moore had declined to interject himself into the argument between Ford and Gallion and had refrained from throwing a punch at Ford, the shooting would not have occurred. R. 948-49.

resulted in Ford pulling his gun and shooting Moore.¹⁴ Consequently, Jackson's conduct was not the proximate cause of Moore's injury and death, and cannot fall within the *Hoffman* exception.

It is, thus, clear that the trial court improperly characterized this case as a "basic negligence case and not a premises liability case." R.E. 3-5, R. 1524-26 (page 3). Premise liability rules, and only premise liability rules, apply. Under a proper application of the appropriate premises liability rules of law, Double Quick cannot be held liable for Ford's shooting of Moore and was, and is, entitled to summary judgment.

C. Double Quick, Inc. is Entitled to Summary Judgment Under Well-Settled Principles of Premises Liability Law.

Under the applicable principles of premises liability law Double Quick is entitled to summary judgment. If the appropriate legal principles are applied to the undisputed facts, plaintiff's claims against Double Quick must be dismissed as a matter of law.

1. Mario Moore Was a Trespasser.

15

Premises liability cases are subject to a three-step analysis. *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So.2d 459, 467 (Miss. 2003). First there must be a determination of the status of the injured party; i.e., is he an invitee, licensee or trespasser¹⁵. *Id.* Once status is determined the Court assesses, based on status, what duty the landowner owes to the injured party. *Id.* Finally, the Court must decide whether the landowner breached any duty owed to the injured party. *Id.*

In *Davis*, 957 So.2d at 404, the Court of Appeals described foreseeability to mean "that a person of ordinary intelligence should have anticipated the dangers that his negligent act created for others." The record lacks any evidence that Jackson was even aware that Moore was on the premises, much less that he would interject himself into the fray.

When the facts regarding status are undisputed, as here, status is a question of law for the Court. Otts v. Lynn, 955 So.2d 934, 939 (Miss. App. 2007).

At one point, Moore may have been a licensee while he was present on Double Quick's premises. The proof, including video tape, shows that he never entered the store or made a purchase. He was on the premises for his own reasons, not providing any benefit to Double Quick. Once he interjected himself into the argument between Ford and Gallion and then struck Jackson with his fist, he became a trespasser. 16 *Titus*, 844 So.2d at 467 (Supreme Court agreed with trial court's reasoning that plaintiff became a trespasser when he returned to convenience store intent on fighting with other patrons.)

"A landowner owes a licensee and a trespasser the same duty, to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring him." *Titus*, 844 So.2d at 467, citing *Adams v. Fred's Dollar Store of Batesville*, 497 So.2d 1097, 1100 (Miss. 1986). There is no evidence in the record that Double Quick took any action to willfully or wantonly injure Moore. Accordingly, summary judgment is appropriate for Double Quick.

2. The Shooting of Moore by Ford was not Reasonably Foreseeable.

Even if Moore was an invitee who was owed a higher duty than a licensee or trespasser, Double Quick would still be entitled to a judgment of dismissal as a matter of law. In premises liability cases involving alleged failure to protect an invitee from the intentional acts of another, the claimant must prove foreseeability by establishing that the defendant had (1) actual or constructive knowledge of the assailant's violent nature, or (2) actual or constructive knowledge that an atmosphere of violence exists on the premises. *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So.2d 30, 38-39 (Miss. 2000)

¹⁶

Accordingly, plaintiff's offer of the bare bones affidavit of Calvin Davis (R. 1248-49) in an effort to create an issue of fact on Moore's status fails. Even if Moore was planning to enter the store to purchase beer he never did so. When he struck the store manager with his fist after interjecting himself into the altercation between Gallion and Ford whatever invitation Double Quick had extended to Moore was withdrawn and he became a trespasser. *Titus*, 844 So.2d at 467.

(quoting Lyle v. Mladinich, 584 So.2d 397, 399 (Miss. 1991).¹⁷

At this point it might be helpful to review the development of this Court's jurisprudence in cases where a plaintiff seeks to hold a premises holder liable for injuries or death received as a result of the intentional criminal acts of a third party. Historically, the general rule in this state was that the criminal acts of a third party constituted an independent intervening cause which broke the causal connection between a defendant's negligence and the plaintiff's injury. *Robinson v. Howard Brothers of Jackson, Inc.*, 372 So.2d 1074 (Miss. 1979) (Howard Brothers held not liable for murder committed by minor who purchased gun and ammunition used in murder from Howard Brothers in violation of state and federal law; murder of plaintiff's decedent was not within "circle of reasonable foreseeability.")

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