## 2010-1A-01963-SCT

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUBLE QUICK, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-1A-01963-SCT

DOROTHY MOORE, AS ADMINISTRATOR AND ON BEHALF OF ALL THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF MARIO MOORE, DECEASED

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT CIRCUIT COURT NO. 2008-0072 HONORABLE ALBERT B. SMITH, III, CIRCUIT JUDGE

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Andrew M. W. Westerfield, Esq. (MSB #Warren B. Bell, Esq. (MSB #WESTERFIELD, JANOUSH & BELL, P.A. 307 Cotton Row, Suite 1
Post Office Drawer 1448
Cleveland, Mississippi 38732
Telephone: (662) 846-1716

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

argument between him and I think they called him Cash while he was in the store.

- Q. Do you know how that argument started?
- A. No.
- Q. Were you there when the argument took place?
- A. I was at the register when the argument was going on. Yes.
- Q. Okay. Now, did anything physical occur between the two of them while you were there? (T.275; R.E. 6)

### (T. 824; R.E. 6)

- A. No. They just argued. That's all.
- Q. How long would you say they were arguing?
- A. Maybe five minutes, something like seven to eight minutes. They wasn't in the store long.
- Q. Okay. Now, when George left, did you do anything out of the ordinary?
- A. Yes, I took his son out to the car and, and put him in his car seat, told him to go on and leave so things wouldn't happen.
- Q. Okay. Now tell me why you did that?
- A. Because I had a feeling something was going to happen. He was there by himself with his son and I didn't want nothing to happen in front of his son or, or nothing like that. (Emphasis added).
- Q. Okay. So you took his son to the car?
- A. Uh, huh.
- Q. Was George with you when you took his son out?
- A. He was walking behind me. (Emphasis added).
- Q. Okay. Now tell me, what you did when you got to the car.

- A. Put his son in the car, then I went around, around to him and was trying to get him to get in the car and just leave it alone, go on, go home, leave it alone and go home.
- Q. Okay. Did you see Cash at the car?
- A. He wasn't at first, but he came around arguing and stuff like at the car and he was. (T. 824, R.E. 6)

### (T. 826, R.E. 6)

- Q. Did you tell me, what made you take him to his car and ask him to get in the car and leave?
- A. Because he was by hisself if something would have happened. *I just thought that they try to fight*. (Emphasis added).
- Q. Okay. And what gave you, what made you think that?
- A. Because they, they were arguing and they were mad with each other, stuff like that, and I thought they'd try to fight. (Emphasis added).
- Q. Did anything get your attention after you got returned to the store, to the cash register?
- A. I went into the store and got the phone and asked John to call the police to come running because I heard shots. (T. 826; R.E. 6)

### (T. 828; R.E. 6)

- Q. What was your purpose when you went into the store?
- A. To call the police. He hit me. To call the police.
- Q. Had you advised anybody to call the police before you actually walked out of the store?
- A. When I walked out of the store, I told Jonathan to call the police.
- Q. That was when you were checking on Mario, I mean, you were checking on George Ford getting to the car?

- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. You told Jonathan to call the police?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. All right. To your knowledge, did he make that call?
- A. No. He told me he didn't make the call at all. (Emphasis added).
- Q. Now, how long did it, it take the police to get there after you called?
- A. It didn't take them long at all. (T.828; R.E. 6)

(T. 831; R.E. 6)

- Q. Well, how did you know there was going to be a fight?
- A. Because they were arguing when he came in. It was my conclusion and that, nobody else's, just mine.
- Q. I understand that. All I'm asking is about your, you said they were in the store arguing, right?
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. You took the little boy out to the car because -
- A. Yes. (Emphasis added).
- Q. —- because you felt that they might be in a fight and the other guys was going to help him?
- A. Yes. (T. 831; R.E. 6)(Emphasis added).
- B. PORTIONS OF STATEMENT OF WYTISHA JACKSON TO SHELBY POLICE DEPARTMENT THE DAY FOLLOWING THE INCIDENT AT DOUBLE QUICK:

(T. 841; R.E. 6)

Investigator

Washington: Can you tell me in your own words, what occurred at your store?

Jackson:

Ok, Cash, a young man name Cash .... (T.841; R.E. 6)

(T. 842; R.E. 6)

Washington: Cash, what?

Jackson:

I don't know his last name.

Washington: Ok, continue please.

Jackson:

And a young man name George Ford.

Jackson:

They in the store, had a lil dispute in the store.

Washington:

Why type of dispute?

Jackson:

I don't even know what they was arguing about, but they were just going back and forward at each other saying that I'm gonna be outside, I'm a be waiting

on you, it was words.

Washington:

Who, who was making the statement? Mr. Gallion and Mr. Ford?

Jackson:

Un huh.

Washington:

At each other?

Jackson:

Yes.

Jackson:

He (Ford) was with his son, he was with his, I think his son's like five or six and he was with, that's who he was with and so when I finish ringing him out and stuff like that I took his son, I seen it was gonna be something going on, so I took his son to the car. .... he was pumping his gas and they was still into arguments and stuff like that, him Cash and George they was still into an

argument.(T.842; R.E. 6) (Emphasis added).

(T. 843; R.E. 6)

Washington: All right, what type of relationship do you have with Mr. Ford?

Jackson:

He's my God Brother.

Washington: But the altercation actually started inside the store?

Jackson: Un-huh.

Washington: With, with Mr. Gallion, Cash and Mr. Ford?

Jackson: Yes.

Washington: And they was Jawjanking each other and Mr. Gallion advised him that he'll

be outside?

Jackson: Yes.

Washington: And Mr. Ford advised he would be outside?

Jackson: Yes. (T. 843; R.E. 6)

### C. CRIMINAL TRIAL TESTIMONY OF JONATHAN JOHNS - CONDENSED

Jonathan Johns was another employee at the Appellant's Double Quick at the time of this incident. Johns was able to observe the start and escalation of the argument between Ford and Gallion and that Gallion left first with Ford following after exchanging words that they would meet each other outside. Johns did not call the police because he was too scared after hearing the shots and Wytisha Jackson called the police.(T. 873, 874; R.E. 7).

(T. 873, 874; R.E. 7)

Q. And then later on, didn't you tell the officer that, isn't, isn't it a fact you told the law officer that Cash walked out of the store?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Before he walked out of the store, he said we'll be, be outside. We'll be outside?

A. He said I'll be outside. Well, I'll be outside.

Q. Well, I'll be outside?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Isn't it true that he said, you told the officer that he said, well, I'll be outside?
- A. That was Mr. Ford's words, like, well, I'll be outside when Cash walked out.
- O. Cash walked outside?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Well, I'll be outside?
- A. Yes, sir. (T.873; R.E. 7)

(T. 874; R.E. 7)

- Q. And when George Ford went out of the building, didn't Cash approach him, approach George Ford?
- A. Yes, sir. I could say that.
- Q. And didn't he get, continue the argument?
- A. Yes, sir, they argued. (T.874; R.E. 7)

# D. PORTIONS OF STATEMENT OF JONATHAN JOHNS TO SHELBY POLICE DEPARTMENT THE DAY FOLLOWING THE INCIDENT AT DOUBLE QUICK:

(T. 892; R.E. 7)

Johns:

During this time, during between 7 or bout 6:30 or 7 a gentleman by the name of George Ford walked in the door, him and his lil son. He was coming in to purchase some items and Cash walked in,

Investigator

Washington:

Cash, when you, when you say Cash,

Johns:

Cash Gallion. (T.892; R.E. 7)

(T. 893, 894; R.E. 7)

Washington: Just Cash, ok, continue sir.

Johns: He was coming in and I guess Ford said what's up to him, and he was like

don't speak to me, I ain't got no words for you and then Ford was like well then, - - a argument escalated between that two right there, between them

two.(Emphasis added).

Washington: Ok.

Johns: And Cash walked out the store and Ford, before he walked out Ford say well

I'll be outside, and Cash walked out, cause he was coming in to get a cigarette

from Ms. Shannon.

Washington: Cash was?

Johns: Yes sir, he was looking for Ms. Shannon - - so he came back in and they were

steady arguing, he was like, that was just, that was some foul stuff you did, he was like, then Ford was like you don't want to see me, Cash told him you don't want to see me and I went back there to the back to get Ms. Shannon purse to get ah, Cash. Ford told him I'll be outside, Cash said I'll be outside, the argument between them two, so when they went outside, Ford had paid for his gas all that, when they went outside Ford was pumping his gas, him and Cash was still talking words to each other, by this time, while them two was

arguing, James he had separated them.(T. 893,894; R.E. 7). (Emphasis

added).

Johns saw the "argument escalated between the two right there, between them" in the store.

He heard them tell each other they would be outside. Johns was so scared that he was "trembling"

after the shooting he couldn't dial the police. He corroborated what Ms. Jackson had said about

going to the car with Ford because of the argument between Ford and Gallion in the store. He also

confirmed the argument continued outside. (T. 892-894; R.E. 7)

### E. <u>AFFIDAVIT OF CALVIN DAVIS - STATUS OF MARIO MOORE AT</u> DOUBLE QUICK AS INVITEE

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

DOROTHY MOORE, AS ADMINISTRATOR AND ON BEHALF OF ALL OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF MARIO MOORE, DECEASED

**PLAINTIFF** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-0072

DOUBLE QUICK, INC.

DEFENDANT